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Rex Buchanan: Good aŌernoon, I’m Rex Buchanan, former director of the Kansas Geological 

Survey (Survey). Today is August 22, 2024. We’re here to interview former Kansas 

representaƟve, Carl Holmes. Our videographer is former representaƟve Dave Heinemann. We 

want to thank the Holmes’ in parƟcular for hosƟng this interview in their home here in 

Liberal.  

 

Carl is a naƟve Kansan who has lived and farmed in southwestern Kansas for most of his life. 

He represented the 125th District in the Kansas House of RepresentaƟves from 1985 to 2013. 

Holds a bachelor's degree in Business from Colorado State University. During his Ɵme in the 

Legislature Carl chaired commiƩees that dealt with natural resources and energy issues. He 

developed experƟse in those subjects through his involvement in the NaƟonal Council of 

State Legislators and other naƟonal organizaƟons. Carl’s career in public service began long 

before his service in the Legislature. In 1977, Carl was elected to the City Council of Plains, 

Kansas. He was appointed mayor of Plains in 1982 and served the city in that capacity unƟl 

1989, when he moved to Liberal. Carl was also on the board of the Groundwater Management 

District (GMD3) in southwestern Kansas.  

 

This interview is part of the Kansas Oral History Project’s series examining the development of 

public policy at the nexus of energy and the environment during the late 20th and early 21st 

centuries. In these interviews we explore those policies through the eyes of experts, 

execuƟves, administrators, legislators, environmentalists, and others. The Kansas Oral History 

Project is a non-profit corporaƟon that collects and preserves oral histories of Kansans. The 

project is supported by donaƟons from generous individuals and grants from Evergy and ITC 

Great Plains. 

 

RB: Good aŌernoon, Carl, and thanks for contribuƟng to this and thanks for allowing us into 

your home. I appreciate it. 

Carl Holmes: Well, thank you. Appreciate you being here. 
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RB: It’s good to see you. 

CH: Thanks for being here. 

RB: We have visited with you before when we talked about water issues in parƟcular. Did you 

start off on energy commiƩees right from the beginning of your legislaƟve career, or did that 

develop over Ɵme? How did that work? 

CH: I was appointed to the Energy and Natural Resources CommiƩee in 1985, my first year.  

RB: Why were you appointed to that commiƩee? 

CH: Well, I had developed a relaƟonship with the Speaker of the House, Mike Hayden, and I had 

expressed to him my desire to be on that commiƩee. So, when the appointments came out, I 

was put on the commiƩee.  

RB: And Mike, obviously not from southwestern Kansas, but northwestern Kansas, and 

certainly somebody with a preƩy significant understanding of western Kansas issues. When 

did you begin chairing those commiƩees? 

CH: My second term would be 1987. The commiƩee was handling so much subject maƩer we 

had two subcommiƩees. I chaired the [sub]commiƩee on energy and another person chaired 

[the subcommiƩee] on natural resources. I had four years that I was chairman of the energy 

subcommiƩee of the commiƩee. And then, the Democrats took control of the House, and I was 

appointed ranking minority leader of the commiƩee for two years with Ken Grotewiel [as the 

commiƩee chair]. Then aŌer that, Republicans took back control and I was chair of the Energy 

and Natural Resources CommiƩee.  

RB: And did you chair that commiƩee up unƟl the end of your Ɵme in the Legislature? 

CH: No, I had a two-year hiatus. AŌer four years, they yanked me off the commiƩee and put me 

on a commiƩee that I didn’t want to be on. They put me on AppropriaƟons [CommiƩee], chair 

of a subcommiƩee of AppropriaƟons and chair of Fiscal Oversight CommiƩee. And I was more 

interested in policy than I was budget maƩers.  

RB: Why did you get pulled off as chair of that commiƩee, or is that something you want to 

talk about? 
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CH: Well, the Speaker, a couple things. I had a couple commiƩee members that thought I was 

being too fair to the Democrats. And we had the Tea Party Movement, and I wasn’t far enough 

to the Right. That’s why I was pulled off of it by the Speaker. And then two years later, we had a 

new Speaker, and he gave me a choice whether to stay on the commiƩees I was on or go back. I 

said, I want to go back. I’m interested in policy; I’m not interested in budget.  

RB: But there are obviously a lot of commiƩees in the Legislature that deal with policy. Why 

were you fixated on – and fixated may not be quite a fair word, but you know what I mean. 

Why were you so interested in being on energy and environment and uƟliƟes? 

CH: Because that was where my knowledge was. Back when I was growing up, dad was always 

interested in oil and gas operaƟons. On Sunday aŌernoons, we’d go out and watch them drill 

like the Wheatly well, which was the first well of the Kismet Field. And I saw them drill the 

Novinger pool. And so, every evening during the week we’d go out there and watch them drill. I 

became very familiar with the geologist and I saw that field from the Ɵme it was developed unƟl 

it was finally plugged because it went dry. That was my interest there. Now water, I had been 

involved in irrigaƟon farming in GMD3. Before I came to Legislature, Dave Pope was chief 

engineer [in the Kansas Department of Agriculture], and I went up to him about a problem we 

had with water out east of Liberal with saltwater intrusion into fresh water. And through three 

different meeƟngs with Dave lasƟng two hours each, we talked very detailed water policy. And 

so, my knowledge came basically from seeing what’s going on in the field and talking with 

experts that were smarter than I was. 

RB: Did your family have oil and gas on their property at that Ɵme? 

CH: They had a liƩle bit, not that much. 

RB: But not a major interest. 

CH: No. 

RB: We just finished talking with Steve Morris and talked a liƩle bit about that evoluƟon of oil 

and gas industry out in this [southwestern] part of the state. You had been around during that 

Ɵme then, in the 1950s and 1960s when really things out here are kind of peaking and going 

great guns.   
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CH: Right, when they developed the Novinger pool, we were out there every night. I saw 

everything happen out there, drill stem test. They had a drill stem test about the fourth well 

they drilled. The drill stem test came out 4,000 barrels of oil a day, . . . 

RB: Holy cow. 

CH:  . . . and 15 million cubic feet of gas. We flared all the gas off that field. And then, I was out 

when they developed another field, and that was formed in another formaƟon. Another one 

they built the Morrow [formaƟon]. And with that one they used core samples. And core sample 

was unique in that the formaƟon was declining at a 45-degree angle across it, which meant if 

they drilled that well 15 or 20 feet this way or that way, they’d have a dry hole. 

RB: Yeah, I think the Morrow is mostly a sandstone and tends to be a liƩle . . . 

CH: It’s Ɵghter. 

RB: . . . less predictable than some other units. 

CH: Right. The Marmaton [formaƟon] was a very coarse formaƟon.  

RB: You made us a list of some of the issues that you dealt with, 

CH: [Laughter] 

RB: and I want to start with a few of them. In parƟcular, I’m not going to do this in 

chronological order. I’d kind of like to do it in what I would perceive to be order of magnitude 

or importance, parƟcularly out in this part of the world, in southwestern Kansas because the 

southwestern Kansas perspecƟve doesn’t always get represented real effecƟvely back in 

eastern Kansas, where decisions get made. And obviously that was part of what you felt was 

your role. Let’s start with one that we were just talking about before we sat down, which was 

the Holcomb Power Plant. Now that comes along a liƩle bit later in your career, but you’ve 

been around a while by now and you’ve got a sense. Give me your take on Holcomb.   

CH: Well, of course, when this started out, they wanted to build two more coal-fired plants. And 

going through the procedure of rules and regs with it, and with the agency we had a road block. 

And the roadblock was [Secretary Rod] Bremby with . . . 

RB: Secretary of Health and Environment. 
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CH: Yeah. And he’d had, I feel, orders not to let Holcomb happen. So, we fought [over] Holcomb 

for a couple years. And fighƟng the Holcomb baƩle, I don’t remember what year it was, I believe 

it was about 2009 when we passed a big bill. But the beginning of the session, first day of the 

session Mark Parkinson called me into his office, he was the Lieutenant Governor, and said, I’ve 

got to have a couple of renewal energy type programs. And I listened to him for about 20 

minutes and he was lecturing me about what was going to happen in session. I didn’t say 

anything. And he said, well what do you think, and I said, well I got to have Holcomb. And he 

said, no way. Well, that ended the conversaƟon. I told the Lieutenant Governor that I controlled 

the commiƩee, and I controlled what came up before the commiƩee. And if I didn’t want an 

issue, it wasn’t brought up. As a result, it kind of came together and started formulaƟng some 

ideas of how we could get it through. 

RB: So just to back up a liƩle bit. Your district doesn’t extend up there though. 

CH: No. 

RB: OK, how much, beyond Seward County, what was your district? 

CH: I had Seward county and two townships in the western part of Meade County.  

RB: And Meade County. So, in effect, Liberal and Seward County is kind of the dominant part 

in your district. Why are you so interested in Holcomb and why did you feel the way you did 

about it?  

CH: I was interested in all energy. I felt like that we should make it all energy available. And it 

goes back to 9/11. I became concerned about all energy -- period. As a result, I felt like that we 

ought to have all energy available. Let the marketplace decide what was appropriate.  

RB: One of the concerns there was a lot of that electricity was going to go to Colorado, not to 

Kansas. That argument didn’t sway you in any way? 

CH: Well, it wasn’t necessarily going to Colorado, it was going to Texas Panhandle. I happened to 

be on a plane flight once from Dallas to Amarillo and just happened to sit next to the President 

of Tri-State out of Amarillo, Texas and we talked about the Holcomb plant. You’ve got a problem 

going west to Colorado in that they’re in a different grid and you’ve got to go through AC-DC-AC 
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bank in order to get the energy into Colorado. But Tri-State [GeneraƟon and Transmission 

AssociaƟon], was really interested in the possibility of taking energy from the Holcomb plant.  

RB: So iniƟally, and the governor at the Ɵme is Kathleen Sebelius, the plant basically doesn’t 

receive the permits that it was required by the Clean Air Act. Eventually Mark Parkinson 

becomes Governor, and the permits are approved. 

CH: Yeah. For one plant, not two. 

RB: For an addiƟonal unit. 

CH: Yeah, but they expanded its [planned] capacity from 700 megawaƩs up to 875.  

RB: But then, it’s never built. 

CH: No. and I think that is the reason is economics. 

RB: Primarily economics of coal versus natural gas at that point. 

CH: And in the compromise bill we had, we had a requirement that 5% of the coal had to come 

from Kansas, and Kansas coal industry was shuƫng down at that point in Ɵme. 

RB: Absolutely. Did this feel a liƩle bit like the rest of the world was telling southwestern 

Kansas what to do? 

CH: There’s always been a fight between east and west in Kansas. And in this case, we had one 

coal-fired plant and eastern Kansas had about eight coal power plants. Eastern Kansas and 

Missouri and they were denying us another coal-fired plant. But at the same Ɵme, they built a 

new coal fire plant right across the line in Missouri that supplied Kansas customers.  

RB: So, I assume that some of that entered into this conversaƟon. I mean, locally folks were in 

favor of it, weren’t they? 

CH: Yes. 

RB: Some of the reacƟon then, sort of resentment that eastern Kansas thinks it knows what’s 

best for western Kansas.  

CH: That’s been that way on a lot of subjects, not just coal-fired plants. 

RB: Right. No quesƟon, we can talk about a lot of things that come. . . But it felt to me like it 

parƟcularly came into play when you were talking about this one here.  
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CH: And one of the animosiƟes between eastern Kansas and western Kansas back in severance 

tax days. I know the tail end of 1981 session I spent the last two weeks in Topeka. And 1982 

session I spent most of the Ɵme in Topeka fighƟng the severance tax because the severance tax 

was being pushed by Wendell Lady, who was Speaker of the House. And most of the severance 

tax was going to be coming out of the Hugoton natural gas field.  

RB: And that was under the Carlin administraƟon. 

CH: That’s correct. 

RB: So why were you up there? Just as a royalty owner? 

CH: No, I don’t have any royalty on natural gas. Hugoton field doesn’t extend into this area. 

RB: That far east. What was your concern? 

CH: I was chairman of the Greater Southwest Regional Planning Commission, which was 19 

counƟes and 65 ciƟes in southwest Kansas and of course being made up of that was all county 

commissioners from all those counƟes. And it was a very important issue for the county 

commissioners. So as a result, they kind of formed a commiƩee to go to Topeka and fight the 

severance tax, and I was included with that. I had an “in” in that a few years before that I had 

given tesƟmony before the U.S. Senate on natural gas with Ross Doyen who was the president 

of the [Kansas] Senate. And so, Ross Doyen who I knew real well and Charlie Angell from Plains 

was our [state] senator and I knew him real well, and so it all came together. And so, I spent, like 

I said, almost the enƟre session in Topeka opposed to this severance tax. 

RB: I never really thought about this before and this isn’t the primary point of why we’re here, 

but in some respects, having you in the commiƩee chair posiƟon you were in and Steve 

Morris as president of the Senate, some people might think southwestern Kansas has sort of 

outsized influence in the Legislature. But given the economic importance of southwestern 

Kansas, you could probably also make the argument that it wasn’t outsized, it was 

appropriate, which is probably what you would say, I would guess. 

CH: Right. 

RB: Looking back today, without that addiƟonal unit of Holcomb being built, what do you 

think today? Was it a mistake not to build it?  
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CH: At the Ɵme it was a mistake not to build it. Today renewable energy has to have an extra 

available energy source because it’s not available 24 hours a day. I mean, the sun doesn’t shine 

24 hours a day, the wind doesn't blow 24 hours a day. So, you’ve got to have back-up. The back-

up is natural gas, primarily, and to a certain degree nuclear power plants, and the coal-fired 

plants that are sƟll operaƟng in Kansas. 

RB: But in effect, because natural gas became so cheap, in retrospect it looks like the right 

decision not to build it, even if it wasn’t made for that reason. 

CH: Looking back, it probably was with the way things are going.  

RB: With the way it eventually played out. 

CH: But for southwest Kansas and western Kansas it was important at that Ɵme that we have an 

addiƟonal coal-fired plant for addiƟonal energy out here. The thing that happened that changed 

that, one of the things was Kansas Electric Transmission Authority and we’ll get into that a liƩle 

later. 

RB: We’ll get into that in a second. Another thing that was right at the top of your list of 

things to talk about that surprised me a liƩle bit was Yaggy [storage field] and natural gas and 

storage regulaƟon. And Yaggy, I assume most people are familiar with storage in the salt 

caverns in the Hutchinson area, some of it because gas got loose and came up under 

[Hutchinson]. This was January 2001. Some explosions, two people are killed, a big deal. 

What’s your role in Yaggy? 

CH: Well, of course I became interested in it because we had some deaths in Hutchinson.  

RB: Yeah, two people. 

CH: Gas coming up in wells in Hutchinson blowing things up. But when we had the [legislaƟve 

commiƩee] hearing, I felt that my background in oil and gas was enough. When I ran the 

commiƩee, except for this issue, I made the commiƩee members ask the quesƟons first 

because I saw too many Ɵmes the chairman asked quesƟons and the commiƩee members 

never got involved. 

RB: Got a chance.  
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CH: I switched that [pracƟce in the hearing] because I felt like I need to dig into the thing real 

deep to find out what the real situaƟon was. We had two days of hearings and during the 

second day I asked Kansas CorporaƟon Commission (KCC) in there and Kansas Department of 

Health and Environment (KDHE) in there. And I asked, who’s responsible for Yaggy? They 

pointed fingers at each other. Well, the reason was, that [the Yaggy field] was originally a natural 

gas liquid storage field, propane, butane, and so forth. So KDHE had control of that. But a few 

years before [the explosion] happened, they shut down Yaggy and they plugged the wells, put 

cement in. Then they decided to store natural gas in it. Well, propane’s, what, 150 pounds a 

square inch and natural gas is 600 pounds. 

RB: 680, 700 pounds  

CH: So, a few years before that, back before I came to Legislature, the Legislature decided that 

KDHE would regulate propane storage fields and the KCC would regulate natural gas fields. Well, 

when it converted to natural gas, each of them thought the other was monitoring it, and 

nobody was monitoring it. And of course, what happened in the Yaggy field was that through 

my quesƟoning and everything [we learned that] when they drilled out the concrete they 

damaged the casing. And when they damaged the casing, then put the 600 pounds of pressure 

behind it, [the gas] went through the casing, followed the water table, and went into Hutchison. 

And this all came out in two days of hearings and aŌer the second day of hearings was over, I 

told my secretary, I said, I want a transcribed copy of the last two days. And so, everything was 

transcribed and put in the minutes, word for word with the quesƟoning and answering for the 

whole two days. And my understanding is that [transcript] was used in lawsuits that followed up 

as part of the evidence in the lawsuits. 

RB: And the Survey got real involved with that because of all the issues, and KDHE was clearly 

the regulatory responsive agency on the ground during the episode itself. There’s been a long 

sort of history of contenƟon about who’s responsible for what when it comes to underground 

regulaƟon in the state. It’s always been a liƩle contenƟous.  

CH: Following up on this, we put laws in place to regulate underground storage and gave 

responsibility for compressed natural gas to the KCC made very plain . . . I was fortunate Stan 
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Clark was my counterpart in the Senate and we worked together in the legislaƟon for it. Then 

both of us were on the [Joint CommiƩee on AdministraƟve Rules and RegulaƟons]. Then when 

the legislaƟon passed and we came to rules and regs, then [the commiƩee] changed some 

things to get them where we wanted them. Following that up, Colorado Interstate [Gas 

Company] had a storage field in Morton County. They didn’t like the idea that Kansas was trying 

to regulate underground storage. So, they took it to federal court, and the federal court blocked 

it because it’s interstate gas, it crosses state lines. So, it was blocked as a result of that lawsuit. 

Then a few years later, the U.S. Congress decided, you know, that was a mistake, and they gave 

us back authority to regulate compressed natural gas fields in Kansas. And I’ll give you another 

example. We had a gas storage field south of Meade, which was right east of here. 

RB: Right. 

CH: And they drilled a well about a mile and a half from a storage field, and they fracked it 

enough that they got in that natural storage field gas. As a result, the storage field owners had 

to buy that well to get it shut down because they were stealing gas and reselling it.  

RB: Yeah, I remember that. I brought that, Steve Morris and I had a conversaƟon about that at 

the Ɵme. In effect, they were, I’m not sure stealing, they were taking gas that didn’t belong to 

them . . . 

CH: Right. 

RB: . . . because it got loose. One of the things in those rules and regs back at Yaggy that 

resulted was, and I remember there was double-wall casings on those pipes, because that 

was one of the problems at [Hutchinson] was as soon as you breach, there’s only one wall 

casing. That leaves me to a quesƟon about you and we may have talked about this a liƩle bit 

before, but I don’t think we did. And we can come back to the issues, but I want to talk, a 

tangent here about how you operated. I don’t know very many legislators that got down into 

the weeds on rules and regs the way you did. I mean, you read them, you marked them up, I 

mean, I never saw anybody do that. What’s the deal there? 

CH: You know, I felt like, I had rented the farm out, so I didn’t have a job other than the 

Legislature because I had the farm rented out, so it gave me more Ɵme to dig into stuff. And 
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what we would do is driving to Topeka – it’s a six-hour drive – so my wife would drive to Topeka 

and I would spend that Ɵme, the six hours, going through the rules and regs and when I found 

something that I didn’t agree with I put a sƟcky note on it. And it got to the point where people 

would come into the commiƩee, they’d try to see how many sƟcky notes Holmes had on the 

rules and regs. On the Rules and Regs CommiƩee starƟng in 1991, there were three of us would 

do our homework. Stan Clark, [RepresentaƟve] Jan Pauls, and myself. We asked 95% of the 

quesƟons in Rules and Regs. It got to the point where we were called the “nit pickers” because 

we were the ones that nit-picked down into the wordage on the rules and regs.  

RB: Well, that’s preƩy unusual. Most of that is technical, I hesitate to use the word arcane, 

but I think it’s a preƩy good word for it. And usually, it’s the technical folks at the agencies 

that do that and they kind of put it in front of the legislature with the assumpƟon that . . . 

CH: Rubberstamped. 

RB: Exactly, because they don’t expect anybody. . . Have you always been a detail-oriented 

person? I mean, what kind of person does something like that? 

CH: Well, I tried to educate myself. And I got a lot of educaƟon aŌer 2001. We might go into that 

a liƩle later, but I felt like that if I was going to be involved with something I needed to educate 

myself so as to do the best job I could while I was in the Legislature.  

RB: And you were willing to wade through some preƩy technical language in some subjects 

that most people would not regard as scinƟllaƟng reading.  

CH: Right.  

RB: But you were willing to do that work.  

CH: Yeah. 

RB: One other thing about that, you menƟoned that you generally ran kind of a democraƟc 

commiƩee, that is, not democraƟc big D, democraƟc liƩle d. Where did that come from?  

CH: I felt like that everything should be done with a compromise. [U. S.] Senator [Bob] Dole was 

a good example of that. He did a lot of compromising with [U. S. Senator] Ted Kennedy and so 

forth. And to me . . . I’ll give you one example. We were in a heavy debate one morning at 6 
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o’clock in the morning. I brought the commiƩee in all kinds of odd Ɵmes and this was end of 

session. 

RB: Six o’clock in the morning. I bet you were popular. 

CH: And we’d had about an hour and a half of debate in commiƩee and [RepresentaƟve] Bob 

Krehbiel was my ranking D. and Bob leaned over and he said, “I think this is going to be a Ɵe 

vote”. And I said, “well, I agree with you.”  He said, “what are you going to do?” I said, “you’ll 

find out when I break the Ɵe.” I never tried to tell a commiƩee member how to vote. I tried to 

give them informaƟon. And if the commiƩee voted different than what I felt was right, I blamed 

myself for not geƫng them the informaƟon that I had.  

RB: You didn’t have 6 am commiƩee meeƟngs to talk about rules and regs, did you? 

CH: No, this was the tail end of the session. When you’re in a veto session, you’re trying to get 

the bills out. I was accused of . . .  One of the reasons I got kicked off the commiƩee was that 

our meeƟngs were at 3:30 and oŌen Ɵmes we went Ɵll 6:30 and that was interfering with the 

lobbyists’ Ɵme for the Legislators.  

RB: I remember some of those and they would go past 5 o’clock and the audience was not 

always appreciaƟve. I would agree with that. Let’s talk about 9/11 a liƩle bit. That’s on your 

list and you brought it up here. It’s not something I would have asked you about ordinarily. 

Why is 9/11 influenƟal? 

CH: Well, 9/11 to me. . . Up to that Ɵme I had been around the United States on different energy 

stuff. And aŌer 9/11 I became very concerned about a terrorist aƩack on our energy and uƟlity 

infrastructure. With that I immediately called in the security people for all the energy and uƟlity 

companies in Kansas. We met outside the capital. No other legislators involved with it, so there 

weren’t any violaƟons of open meeƟngs laws. OK, where are we vulnerable, what do we need 

to do. We met for two or three meeƟngs and one of them said, we need to get you a security 

clearance. So, they got me a security clearance through the FBI. Well, the FBI supplied me with a 

program but that’s another story, but they supplied me with a program. Every morning I would 

get a security briefing from the FBI on all threats to the United States on everything and of 

course I was primarily interested in oil and energy and uƟliƟes. With that, that developed part 
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of my thinking down the road. One of the things I did as chairman every three or four years I’d 

take my commiƩee down to Wolf Creek [nuclear power plant], for example. AŌer 9/11, I was 

taken down to Wolf Creek and taken behind the scenes everything that they did down there to 

try to protect the facility. Talking with the security guards, they said, we’ve got a problem. I said, 

what’s that? They said, if we shoot somebody on site, we don’t have any protecƟon. So, I ran 

legislaƟon that gave protecƟon to security guards in case they shot somebody on Wolf Creek 

[property]. That made internaƟonal news. It came out in Kansas if you come into Wolf Creek’s 

property you’ll be shot and then they’ll ask you quesƟons. The word went out all over the place 

on that. Another thing we did was that I was concerned because any rate cases have to go 

before the KCC and [are subject to open records laws]. And so, I thought, well, if we spend 

money on security stuff at Wolf Creek and other faciliƟes that are regulated by KCC, that’s public 

knowledge. So, we ran legislaƟon that allowed the KCC to close the hearing on security issues. 

Any security charge would go through on the energy charge so nobody could detect what we 

were doing in the way of security for the plants. Then aŌer 9/11, as a result of security 

clearance, I was working with Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) with the 

Department of Energy, and when I was out of session, I was basically living out of a suitcase. 

Going around to what different areas were doing for security stuff and so forth involved with 

several naƟonal agencies.  

RB: Yeah, I remember in that period one of the issues related to that was pipeline security . . .  

CH: Oh yeah. 

RB:  . . . because there are so many big pipelines. Kansas is kind of central. I always wondered 

a liƩle bit about lack of security related to those things. They always looked to me preƩy 

vulnerable. I assume that was part of the conversaƟon. 

CH: That, electric transmission lines and so forth. AŌer 9/11 I personally toured every power 

plant in the State of Kansas that had 100 megawaƩs or more. I went to all the underground 

storage field areas. That way I became familiar with what we had and what we needed to 

protect. I really can’t talk about some things we did. One thing that bothers me right now, I’ll be 

real honest, is that Colonial Pipeline situaƟon happened three or four years ago, that should 
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have never happened. We talked about that scenario in 2010, of happening and how to prevent 

it. 

RB: Which pipeline?  

CH: The Colonial, which went from the Gulf coast to New York. The system went down. 

RB: Right.  

CH: And we talked about that very scenario in one of these closed meeƟngs. But my first 

meeƟng aŌer 9/11, they flew me into Pennsylvania and we went down to a NaƟonal Guard 

base. We went through security briefings right off the bat on what our security vulnerabiliƟes 

were and what we needed to do. That just compounded from then on. I was involved in a 

tremendous amount of . . .  

RB: Let’s talk about pipelines a liƩle bit because that was another issue that comes along 

during your Ɵme in the Legislature. What was your role in terms of pipeline permiƫng in the 

state and how did you go about that? 

CH: That was preƩy much done before. Pipelines from this area were built in the 1930s. Now 

they had expansions of pipelines, they ran a new line in the 1960s from southwest Kansas to 

northeast. I was on site when they were building the Michigan-Wisconsin pipeline. It was south 

of Meade, a compressor staƟon. 

RB: One of the pipelines came in from the north with Canadian . . . 

CH: Keystone Pipeline. 

RB: Keystone that came into, my memory is McPherson.  

CH: That was part of my big energy bill that I had. One of the things that was happening, we 

were losing refineries. At one Ɵme Kansas had 18 or 20 different refineries and we’re down to 

three. So, I felt like that we needed to make sure that we didn’t lose any more refineries. So as a 

result of that, I met with the three managers of three different [refinery] companies in Wichita. 

AŌer we had lunch, I said, OK I want to talk to you about what we need to do to get some 

expansion on the refineries. They said, we can’t talk about that. I said, what do you mean? Well, 

it’s a conflict of interest because we’re compeƟtors. So, I said, I’ll tell you what we’ll do. I said, 

I’ll meet with each of you individually here for 20 minutes and I’ll not disclose to anybody else 
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what discussion was. There’s where I picked up the informaƟon. We developed a bill that 

includes several things and one of them was, it allowed for tax incenƟves for pipelines if the oil 

was made available to Kansas refineries. As a result of that, I’d been up in Canada to the oil 

sands, tremendous oil reserves. Of course, there’s polluƟon problems with that in some of the 

extracƟon methods, some of them it isn’t. But that Keystone pipeline was not going to come 

through Kansas. When we passed the legislaƟon, they decided to bring the Keystone pipeline on 

into, down to Cushing, Oklahoma. Well, three refineries all had pipelines coming into Cushing, 

Oklahoma back into Kansas so they could purchase that oil coming down the Keystone Pipeline. 

And we put in incenƟves for pipelines, we put incenƟves for refineries, and a few other things. 

To me, there again, we needed to make sure that we had the energy sources for the future. And 

at that point in Ɵme, the United States was imporƟng three-fourths of the oil, two-thirds of the 

oil, that was being used in the United States. AŌer Deepwater Horizon [oil spill] happened, we 

had the explosion out in the Gulf of Mexico, that was one of the places they took me to, was the 

explosion down there, and one of the things they were doing as part of that we toured a new 

LNG [(liquified natural gas)] facility. The facility was developed to import gas to the United 

States because we didn’t have enough gas. Well now they’ve reversed it and it’s going the other 

way, but we were imporƟng natural gas from northern Africa because we didn’t have enough 

natural gas reserves. That was before horizontal oil drilling and fracking and the shale and so 

forth that came on aŌerwards, but . . . 

RB: So, my memory of one of those pipeline issues was basically tax, I don’t know if 

forgiveness is the right word, but basically . . . 

CH: There was a ten-year property tax exempƟon. 

RB: That was preƩy controversial.  

CH: It was very controversial. 

RB: You got beat up preƩy good for that. 

CH: I got beat up for that. But to me it was more important to ensure our energy future. The 

ones that beat me up were the ones along the pipeline, the Keystone Pipeline, the counƟes, 

because the county commissioners want oil and gas taxes off of it. 



Interview of Carl Holmes by Rex Buchanan, August 22, 2024 
Kansas Oral History Project Inc. 
 
 

 
© 2024 Kansas Oral History Project, Inc.  Page 16 of 29 

 
 

RB: Yes. 

CH: There was another issue, another pipeline besides that that was just important. Bushton 

[KS] [natural gas pipeline hub] was geƫng ready to be shut down. As a result of that legislaƟon, 

a pipeline was brought in from Wyoming to Bushton to supply energy because the sources in 

Kansas for Bushton had played out. So, it kept Bushton in operaƟon. Of course, that was natural 

gas liquids. That one was not uncontroversial. 

RB: Right. So, you were geƫng beat up from the county people and from the environmental 

community.  

CH: Oh yeah. 

RB: You got beat up by just about everybody at that point.  

CH: Well, to me, energy was important. All energy, not just oil and gas. That was a part of it. 

Another thing that a lot of people don’t realize is that the refinery at Coffeyville. They’re making 

anhydrous ammonia down there. They’re taking the waste from the refinery and combining it 

with air and making anhydrous ammonia. So, it’s not just oil and gas, it’s ferƟlizer. 

RB: One of the things that’s on your list here, and I know this is important to you and it’s 

important to southwestern Kansas and it’s important to all this conversaƟon about 

renewables is transmission. But I’ll tell you right now, it’s not a world that I live in, I don’t 

know a huge amount about it, but I know enough to know in a lot of respects, transmission is 

really the boƩleneck that determined a lot of other things that were going to happen. Talk a 

liƩle bit about your world in terms of transmission. 

CH: Electric transmission lines are what pipelines are for natural gas. Everybody was talking 

about transmission, but nobody was doing anything about it. On the naƟonal commiƩees I was 

on, for example, while we had the transmission authority and several other states had a 

transmission authority, but they had no teeth to them. So, what I did in November 2005, I 

believe, I called in all the players. The uƟlity companies’ lobbyists, the whole works. We met in 

the AppropriaƟons [CommiƩee] room of the [Kansas] House [of RepresentaƟves] and I said, OK, 

I want to draŌ legislaƟon for the transmission authority where we can build electric 

transmission lines. I said, we’re going to run that legislaƟon next session and it’s going to pass. 
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Everybody just kind of laughed at me, and said, you don’t pass legislaƟon first year. Well, I 

brought in all the people that would be involved with it. UƟlity companies and so forth. We put 

together a piece of legislaƟon. That legislaƟon did pass the next session, and  KETA [Kansas 

Electric Transmission Authority] was formed, which is made up of six legislators and three non-

legislators. We had a hammer that none of the other transmission authoriƟes had and that was 

that KETA was given authority to borrow money through the KDFA [Kansas Development 

Finance Authority] to build transmission lines if nobody else would do them. I was very 

interested in a line being built first from Salina to Wichita, and I couldn’t get Westar interested.  

So, we announced at one of our meeƟngs, came to the conclusion that KETA would build the 

line from Salina to Wichita. The way we set it up in legislaƟon, we announced we would do that 

and then there’s a Ɵme period, it’s either 60 days or 90 days that anybody else could come in 

and say they would build it. And then we’d have to step back, but we’d monitor, and if they 

were just stonewalling, we would go ahead and build it. Well, the next meeƟng we had, 

Interstate Transmission Company (ITC), which is out of north central states, came in and said, we 

will build a line from Salina to Wichita. Right aŌer that Westar came in and said, we will build 

the line from Salina to Wichita. 

RB: Why were you interested in Salina to Wichita? 

CH: Because that was a gap in the system. And we needed to fill gaps up. 

RB: In order to have connecƟvity. 

CH: ConnecƟvity and you need to have reverse flow on everything to move electricity. The idea 

was to get that, that was the first project. Well, we got that project going, and then I felt like we 

needed a line from Wichita to southwest Kansas up to Axtell, Nebraska. Wichita would hit the 

north-south lines, and the Axtell, Nebraska would hit their east-west lines. And give us kind of a 

box to move transmission in, electric energy around. There again, we came in and said, we will 

build it and ITC came in and said, no, we will build it. So, we stepped back, and they did build it. 

The thing was, then when ITC wanted to build it, I was involved with Southwest Power Pool, 

which is a regional authority for electric transmission [RTO] in this area. I remember a meeƟng 

that I had with Southwest Power Pool in Tulsa, Oklahoma, and they were talking about all the 
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projects, and they leŌ off this project. We took a break for lunch, and uncharacterisƟcally of me, 

I lit into the chairman of the Southwest Power Pool and the manager out of LiƩle Rock because 

this project had not been included in one of the projects. I guess I lit into them enough that 

when they came back aŌer lunch, they added that project to it. With that it was decided instead 

of building a 345 line, they would build a double line, so it would carry twice the amount of 

energy. 

RB: Big capacity. 

CH: Yeah, a capacity issue. As a result of that, I remember we had a public hearing, or we didn’t, 

the Kansas CorporaƟon Commission had a hearing on a route from Spearville to Axtell. 

Landowners coming in and said, you need to move that line over eight, ten miles away because 

we want the wind turbine to build on our property and with electric transmission line in, we 

would lose part of the turbines.  So, it was a push for renewable energy, but it was, “I want my 

property so I get the revenue off of it.”  

RB: I assume that you were looking at southwestern Kansas as part of that transmission line 

for all sorts of reasons, but one reason winds up being very important is because of the 

renewables that are out here in terms wind power. 

CH: Well, it wasn’t there then. 

RB: It wasn’t there then, but they were coming preƩy quick. 

CH: Plus, the fact we had a 345 line coming from Amarillo, Texas to Garden City. Then from 

Garden City to Dodge City. There was another line that went to Colorado was AC-DC-AC to 

transfer electricity into Colorado. But anyhow, we got that line built and since then you’ve seen 

all the renewable energy come in south of Kingman and PraƩ. You drive the 54 highway, you’ve 

go clear out to Minneola. You go up around Dodge City, there’s all over the place up there.  

RB: Almost enƟrely windmills. 

CH: Yeah. 

RB: But it is a case of, you used to hear that as a reason for not being able to develop 

renewables in this part of the world was lack of transmission capacity and you don’t hear that 

much anymore.  
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CH: Right. One other project I want to bring up, this project was called Clean Line. It was 

proposed around 2007 or 2008. It was to be a 4,000-megawaƩ line from southwest Kansas, 

from Hugoton [KS] into Indiana. And Clean Line fought with Missouri for property rights for 15 

or 20 years. They finally gave up on it and Grain Belt Express took it over. I met with, when they 

had the hearings out here. Originally the Clean Line was going to start in Hugoton. But because 

of the 345 line that was a KETA line, I’ll call them KETA lines. They moved the start point to 

Dodge City. They’re going to build feeder lines southwest into Meade County, and southeast to 

Comanche County. But it’s going to start in Dodge City. I think the reason they’re starƟng at 

Dodge is Dodge and Spearville are 15 or 20 miles apart, is that will give them access to the lines 

that are put in with KETA project. Instead of shipping electricity from here north to Nebraska 

and east to Wichita, they’ll be able to bring it into there and put on the big line, which will be 

5,000 megawaƩ line. IniƟally to eastern Missouri and then on into Indiana. To give you an idea, 

5,000 megawaƩs is about 2,000 wind turbines; 5,000 megawaƩs is 2 ½ Jeffrey [Energy] centers; 

it’s 12 Holcomb power plants; it’s five Wolf Creeks. It’ll be the largest transmission line in the 

United States when it’s completed. They will transfer from AC to DC, move it east, and then 

from DC back to AC, because DC has less line loss than what AC does.  

RB: You know, this reminds me a liƩle bit again of that rules and regs conversaƟon we just had 

that the regulated communiƟes are probably not used to a legislator inserƟng himself into a 

conversaƟon like this. That must have taken a liƩle geƫng used to on their part. 

CH: Well, I’ll go ahead and talk about it. Brian Moline was chairman of the [Kansas] CorporaƟon 

Commission [(KCC)] and I worked with Brian preƩy close. Some of the stuff we closed the door 

on the conversaƟon taking place at that Ɵme will never leave that room. But Brian did a lot of 

educaƟon of me on the responsibiliƟes of CorporaƟon Commission, what their role was and 

what the Legislature’s role could be. I worked with KCC staff, of course, quite a bit. But Brian and 

I developed a close relaƟonship.  

RB: Why didn’t you ever wind up on the KCC?  

CH: Well, that’s the governor’s decision. [Laughter] 
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RB: Well, I understand that but there’ve been a lot of governors. Is that something you would 

like? You seem to me like you would have been a preƩy good fit for that. 

CH: Well, at one Ɵme I’d liked to have been on the KCC because I felt there’s some things we 

could do that would be aggressive. 

RB: And that one is preƩy detail-oriented job where you have to look at a lot of what could be 

for the rest of us not parƟcularly interesƟng topics. But it seems like that fits you preƩy well 

in a lot of respects. 

CH: Another situaƟon with Westar, when they were looking at selling to El Paso Electric, their 

generaƟon uƟlity assets.  Well [David] Wiƫg had been head of Westar. Wiƫg had gone in and 

made investments in a lot of non-uƟlity stuff and had quite a bit of debt. We found out that in 

the transfer of the uƟlity assets to El Paso, they were going to pass on all the debt on the uƟlity 

side, so they’d walk away with the other part of it with no debt. In that case, myself and 

[RepresentaƟve] Laura McClure and [RepresentaƟve] Tom Sloan decided that we were going to 

take on Westar. The first Ɵme we went out to CorporaƟon Commission and talked to the staff 

about what was going on. We went in the same car and Westar [personnel] followed us. So, 

aŌer that we would go out and talk to KCC, we’d go in separate cars, so it wasn’t as easy to 

follow us going out to the KCC to talk to them about it. It got to the point that Wiƫg called the 

three of us into his office and gave us an hour lecture about how the three of us were going to 

bankrupt Westar because they were not going to be able to sell their uƟlity assets to El Paso. 

Another story. 

RB: While we’re in this part of the world, we talked to Steve Morris this morning a liƩle bit 

about the cellulosic ethanol plant up there in Hugoton and I see that’s on your list. 

CH: Yeah. 

RB: Did you have a role in that? 

CH: Well, when we passed our big bill, that was one of the incenƟves. 

RB: When you say big bill, what . . .? 
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CH: Well, the big bill – I’ll have to, I’m sorry [looking through papers]. The oil refinery bill, the 

pipeline bill, the nitrogen ferƟlizer bill, cellulosic ethanol, integrated coal gasificaƟon, and power 

plants and so forth. That was all put together in one bill. 

RB: Do you have what year that is? 

CH: 2006. What happened is in 2005 I put together a power point presentaƟon and gave that 

power point presentaƟon to the summer interim commiƩee. And this was when we had the 

summer season stuff. AŌer I gave the power point presentaƟon, Joe Harkins was the governor’s 

aide at that Ɵme, and he talked to me aŌer the presentaƟon and then he set up a meeƟng with 

Governor Sebelius. He said, I want you to come in and talk to Governor Sebelius about what 

you’re proposing here. So, I went in and talked to the governor, we spent about an hour 

together talking about what needed to be done. Then I worked with [Kansas Secretary of 

Revenue] Joan Wagnon, who was with the governor’s [administraƟon], on the tax incenƟves. 

Tax incenƟves were signed off by the governor before I ever went forward with them. Then we 

came back to the next year’s session. I passed five different bills in the House. It went to Senate 

and just kind of languished there. The last night of the veto session, this came to me from the 

Speaker of the House, the Speaker of the House, President of the Senate, and the Governor had 

a meeƟng to wrap up, and Governor Sebelius told the Speaker of the House and President of 

the Senate, Holmes’ bill will be on my desk before you leave tomorrow. And that’s how the bill 

passed. 

RB: So, the cellulosic ethanol plant is part of the result of incenƟves that come out of that 

process? 

CH: Right. 

RB: So that sort of strikes me, as I look back in retrospect, and we talked to Steve about this, 

that plant, a liƩle bit, as an experiment that didn’t work. 

CH: It didn't work. It might have worked someplace else, but here, remember that forage 

cellulose is coming into us from water. 

RB: Right. 

CH: They were taking out of the aquifer, and as a result it just . . . It’s too cuƫng edge. 
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RB: Is that though a funcƟon of what you’re talking about, you sort of have alluded to this as, 

we need all available sources of energy. 

CH: We need all available sources of energy. 

RB: And that’s how you were looking at that? 

CH: Yeah. We need all. I’ll give you an example, in 1989 I was in California, about five of us that 

went out naƟonwide to California. We were taken to Tehachapi [Pass wind farm]. At that Ɵme 

the wind turbines were 250 kW wind turbines. The cost of electricity coming off of those 

turbines that Ɵme was about 20 cents a kilowaƩ. Then we were taken into Los Angeles, where 

they were growing the cells for photovoltaic and those were 50 cents a kilowaƩ. Well, we’ve 

seen that drop down tremendously. They were experimenƟng with 375 kW out there at that 

Ɵme. It was a maƩer of Ɵme Ɵll they got the project so it would be economical. I felt like that 

needed to be a part of what we were going to be doing.  

RB: Does that feel like the next big thing out here, is solar plants for lack of a beƩer word? 

Large solar installaƟons. 

CH: I’ll give you an example for here in Liberal, not just that. When NaƟonal Beef came here in 

the late 1960s, they immediately started capturing the waste gas and generaƟng electricity for 

the power plant. On the east side of Liberal right now, you’ll see a huge bubble at the NaƟonal 

Beef. They’ve just redone a waste water treatment plant here and they’re capturing the gas off 

of the waste. NaƟonal Beef is using that to generate electricity for the packing plant. The City of 

Liberal is puƫng in solar and some wind turbines at the wastewater treatment plant. They’re 

also puƫng solar in on several city buildings here in Liberal. So, you know, it’s coming. As a 

result, your solar generates electricity, when you’re at peak load and you need the electricity for 

the grid because it’ll peak in the dayƟme.  

RB: I want to ask you a couple of things related to your commiƩee, but let’s . . .  Are there any 

of these other topics here that you really want to make sure we get covered if not?  

CH: Let me just glance down through here. When I came to Legislature probably, I was up there 

about three or four years, we had a major problem here in Liberal with NaƟonal Beef. They 

drilled a water well and had VOCs [volaƟle organic compounds] in it. So, I was involved from a 
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standpoint of watching what was going on, and they were looking what the source was. Well, 

Panhandle Eastern out on the west side of Liberal had a big pit that they put all their cleaning 

fluids in from cleaning the parts. Went around every place there was dry cleaners, 

contaminaƟon. You had ground water contaminaƟon around the fuel tanks. You had 

contaminaƟon around the grain elevators with grain fumigants. So, in 1989 we passed 

legislaƟon to cover underground fuel tanks for service staƟons and so forth. Then a couple years 

later I had a legislator come tell me and say, “you know, we got a problem in northwest Kansas 

with VOCs around grain elevators.” So, we put a tax on that fumigant to use to clean up around 

that. Then they came to me and said, “we got to do something about dry cleaning fluid.” So, we 

did the same thing. We put a tax on dry cleaning fluid to clean up those sites, so we did some 

things like that to try to clean up. And as a result, the informaƟon I learned here around Liberal 

when they were trying to find the source. And incidentally they found the source. This used to 

be a B24 base. Somebody remembered that back in World War II there’s a tank car on the 

railroad that was leaking fluid and they parked it about a block from where the water well was 

and that had got down into the ground water. So that well was being used but they put an air 

strip in it to strip out the VOCs.  

RB: All those are kind of examples of long-term environmental problems that fixing them is 

not the most exciƟng thing in the world. But it needs to be done for all sorts of reasons. 

Maybe again sort of comes back to that aƩenƟon to detail that you have. One of the things on 

your list was the level of radioacƟve waste compact commission. We talked to Laura McClue 

and Janice Lee about that because they were really, in my mind, especially Laura was very 

strongly idenƟfied. You seem to be able to get along with just about everybody. Well maybe 

not everybody, but a lot of people. 

CH: Most people. 

RB: Because they were Democrats, but I don’t . . . 

CH: Yeah. I remember Laura coming to the Legislature . . . 

RB:  Before she was a legislator. 
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CH: . . . before she was a legislator arguing on that. And some of the stuff, hearings we were 

having in the old Supreme Court chambers. 

RB: I remember that brought them out of the woodwork. 

CH: What the problem is that they were going to put the low-level [radioacƟve waste disposal] 

site in Nebraska, and Nebraska said, no, you’re not going to do that. As a result of that, the head 

of the KDHE at that Ɵme already including me in the low-level radioacƟve waste compact 

meeƟngs, in all different areas of the compact. Then a liƩle later, North Carolina, which is a low-

level radioacƟve waste site said, “we’re not going to take any more waste.” So, myself and the 

head of KDHE and another person flew to Nashville and met with North Carolina people and 

said, you know, we really need this. They said, “we’re upset that nobody’s doing anything.”  So, 

we came back, and we started having hearings here in Kansas – not hearings, we were having 

closed meeƟngs – because it’s not just nuclear power plants that create low level, hospitals 

create it. The oil and gas industry and some of their tesƟng stuff has got radioacƟve materials. 

As a result, we started looking at things of how we could lower the [amount of waste] that we 

generate in Kansas at these different sources. We worked with that and of course radioacƟve 

waste didn’t get. . .  

RB: . . . permiƩed. Do you miss not being involved in this stuff? 

CH: Not at my age. I missed leaving the Legislature and I really felt like that, for example with 

KETA, I had a couple more lines that I wanted built before I leŌ KETA, and we didn’t get them 

built. They’ve gradually built a couple of them since then, but I was going to push for those to 

try to get more transmission lines built. Let’s talk about one more thing about transmission. 

Remember about two or three years ago we had the gas well freeze up and all? 

RB: In Texas. 

CH: We had electricity go out here as a result. If the Grain Belt Express line was in, that could 

have shipped electricity in from Indiana and Illinois back into this area where we would not have 

had the blackouts. 
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RB: This may be a touchy quesƟon, but do you feel like people in Liberal or Seward County, 

however, in your district appreciated the level of aƩenƟon that you were giving to all these 

issues? You see what I’m trying to . . . 

CH: Yeah. 

RB: It feels like, maybe I answered my own quesƟon, it feels like to me they didn’t. Am I being 

unfair? 

CH: I lost my 2012 elecƟon by eight votes. The Tea Party came in and worked against me big 

Ɵme and that’s the reason I lost the elecƟon. [According to] the Tea Partyers I was not 

conservaƟve enough. And I was being fair to the Democrats, and you don’t be fair to Democrats 

if you’re a Republican at that point in Ɵme.  

RB: So, in some respects you’re geƫng penalized for, like the way you operate a commiƩee. 

CH: Yeah. 

RB: I want to ask you, as we finish up here, I remember toward the end of your Ɵme as a 

commiƩee chair, I didn’t spend a huge amount of Ɵme in the Legislature compared to some 

people, but I don’t know that I ever saw a commiƩee chair who cared about the people on his 

commiƩee or her commiƩee quite the way you did. I’m not sure what quesƟon I’m asking 

here Carl, but what are your thoughts . . . I remember when you stepped down as chair, it was 

an emoƟonal day. 

CH: I felt like as chair of the commiƩee I should have the knowledge. I guess more like an 

educator. Both my parents were teachers. I felt like it was up to me to educate the commiƩee 

on the informaƟon, then let them make the decision. In order to do that, as staff knew, didn’t 

know at the Ɵme, I was running a lot of dummy bills. I call them dummy bills because I never 

had any intenƟon of running them clear through the process. But if you just have a hearing on a 

subject, the commiƩee members are not going to pay any aƩenƟon to it. They’re on their cell 

phones and so forth. But if you have a hearing on something they think they might have to vote 

on, you’ve got their aƩenƟon. Then, like I said, I made the commiƩee members ask the 

quesƟons first. I had my list of quesƟons, but as one of them asked my quesƟon, I’d cross it off. I 

held my quesƟons to the last, forcing them to be engaged. I think the commiƩee members 
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appreciated the fact that all of them were treated equally. That the order of the line of 

quesƟons the things that they asked was in order of the hands that went up. And one day, when 

I had a, we’d had a big debate on a bill, I don’t remember which one it was, but aŌer the 

meeƟng was over, a news media person came up to me and wanted to know how somebody 

voted. I said, I don’t know how they voted. He said, what do you mean, you had a show of 

hands. I said, I look at hands, I don’t look at faces. To me it wasn’t how somebody voted, it was 

how many votes were each way. I never criƟcized a person for a vote. 

RB: You must have a – not to get all touchy-feely here – but you must have liked those people 

on your commiƩees. 

CH: Yeah. One of the educaƟon tools that I used was Kansas Geological Survey [Field 

Conference] tours. I encouraged the commiƩee members to take those tours because they’re 

educaƟonal. I felt like that they would help them coming back to the commiƩee when we had 

subjects coming up that touched on things we touched on the tours.  

RB: But I was just struck at how much you seemed to care about those people as people. By 

those people, I mean commiƩee members. It was, I don’t know that I ever saw that any other 

Ɵme up there. It probably took place and I just didn’t see it, but I saw it from you. 

CH: Well, I think it goes back to my enƟre life. I was a leader in [Boy] Scouts. When it went on, I 

developed informaƟon and when I got city council one of my first engagements was with the 

city clerk. When he wanted something, we had the money, if he didn’t [want it], we didn’t have 

the money. So, a couple of us started keeping the budget so we aŌer a year we said, we do have 

the money or we don’t, and so forth. But you get everybody involved. Like when I became 

mayor at Plains, there’s no city manager, so the mayor is city manager. I had five council 

members. I told those council members; I gave each of them responsibility. I said, “I want you to 

do the niƩy griƩy stuff, only come to me with the big stuff or you got a problem.” I engaged on 

city council members doing the work of a city manager. They appreciated that, because they 

were responsible. It wasn’t the mayor telling them how to do something, they had to come back 

to the council with the informaƟon. 
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RB: One last thing I wanted to bring up, and I don’t think in the overall scheme of things it was 

hugely important as an issue, but it does seem to sort of encapsulate your approach to things. 

And that was – and this is just me – I remember you had two days of interim hearings about 

compressed air storage and the mineral rights that are associated with compressed air 

storage, and that looked like it might be a big deal in terms of energy storage and sƟll maybe, 

I don’t know. But you held two days of interim hearings and I don’t think you, I mean, I’ve 

heard of people talk about an iron bladder up there, but I don’t think you got up out of the 

chair in two days. And from what I can tell, siƫng in the audience, you’d have been happy to 

go another two days. The audience was, I think, you know, crying uncle.  

CH: [Laughing] 

RB: You loved it, didn’t you?  

CH: Yeah, I loved, I enjoyed it. A lot of it was because I could bring informaƟon with all the 

outside stuff out of session, naƟonally. I could bring all that stuff back to Kansas. I chaired 

several naƟonal commiƩees dealing with energy and environmental issues. It gave me the 

opportunity to work with people all the way from Hawaii to ConnecƟcut and so forth in 

between. I had three trips out to Yucca Mountain, into the mountain. Just tremendous 

opportuniƟes. 

RB: In terms of energy future, are you happy with the direcƟon the country’s heading? 

CH: OK, we’re talking about energy and environment, now?  

RB: Yes, we are. We don’t have Ɵme for that other one, no. 

CH: [Laughter] I have no problem with it. I feel like that we’re making a gradual transiƟon to 

renewables, which is probably the right way to go long-term, but we have to remember. . .. I had 

a trip to China and I met with one of the top 12 members of the Politburo in China on energy. 

When I was over there the first day there wasn’t a cloud in sight and you couldn’t see the sun. 

The second day, the sun was like an orange. It rained that night. The third day the sky was clear, 

but everything on the ground was brown. And China’s building at that Ɵme one coal-fired plant 

a week. Now I see we’re possibly up to two coal-fired plants [per week]. But they’ve also put 

resources into renewable energy. 
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RB: It’s interesƟng because you see the numbers of renewables go up, but on a percentage 

basis, things aren’t all that different than they were 20 or 30 years ago because the total 

demand for energy has outpaced everything as well. So, fossil fuels are sƟll almost as 

important as they ever were because there’s just so much more energy demand. 

CH: That’s one of the reasons I’m excited about the Grain Belt Express power line. 5,000 

megawaƩs. I mean, that is 2,000 or 2,500 wind turbines equivalent and solar on top of that. 

That opens a lot of stuff up because with a DC line you have a transformer that converts it here 

and a transform on the other end that converts it back. That means that when that transfers 

here at Dodge City, it’s not downloaded unƟl it hits eastern Missouri. It’s going to be a 

tremendous opportunity for western Kansas. Especially with the [Grain Belt Express] line being 

able to feed into Dodge instead of just feeding out. 

RB: Anything else that we haven’t talked about that you want to touch on? 

CH: Well, just remember all these fossil fuels we’re using, we’re mining. We’re going to run out. 

In Colorado, I love the mountains, I love ghost towns. Why were they ghost towns? Because the 

gold and silver ran out. Look what’s happening to us in our water here. Look what happened to 

Hugoton field. I saw the beginnings and the endings of oil fields. Look at eastern Kansas. Out 

here, I’ve seen the development and the death of fossil fuel. We’ve got to look at the future 

down the road. The future’s not in my lifeƟme. But we’re eventually. What’s the next 

technology geƫng our gas out of the ground besides shale, horizontal drilling, and fracking? 

With that you’ve exhausted everything.  

RB: The decisions you made 20 or 30 years ago in terms of transmission lines and other things 

definitely affect what people are capable of doing today, so the decisions you make today are 

going to affect folks on down the road . . . 

CH: Absolutely. 

RB: . . . 20 or 30 years from now. Well, Carl, I sure appreciate the conversaƟon. I hesitate to 

use this phrase, but you kind of know where the bodies are buried. But you also, boy, there’s 

nobody that sweats the details like you do and I’m glad we had the chance to sit down and 

have this conversaƟon. I’m glad we got to do it here in Liberal. 
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CH: Well, I appreciate you coming out here because of my medical situaƟon.  

RB: Well, I enjoy coming to this part of the world. It’s good to have a reason for it. Thank you 

very much. 

CH: Well, thank you. I appreciate it. 

[End of file] 


